RECEIVED

01-16-2018

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2017AP001584 - CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

TERRELL ANTWAIN KELLY,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Daniel L. Konkol Presiding, and from an Order Denying Postconviction Relief, the Honorable M. Joseph Donald presiding.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Pamela Moorshead Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1017490

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Was Mr. Kelly deprived of his Sixth Amendment right to counsel?
 - A. Did his first trial attorney provide constitutionally ineffective assistance when he recommended that Mr. Kelly forego an offer to plead to two domestic violence offenses and instead plead guilty to second degree child sexual assault, which carried more than twice the penalty exposure and entailed mandatory lifetime registration as a sex offender?
 - B. Did his second trial attorney provide constitutionally ineffective assistance when he failed to advise Mr. Kelly that he could withdraw his plea prior to sentencing?

The circuit court ruled that neither counsel provided ineffective assistance.

2. Was Mr. Kelly's intellectual disability a new factor warranting sentence modification?

The circuit court ruled that the cognitive disability was not a new factor.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Publication may be warranted as this case, which involves the application of the rule of *Lafler v. Cooper*, 566 U.S. 156, 132 S. Ct. 1376 (2012), when counsel has given

constitutionally deficient advice to a defendant who is being asked to choose between two plea offers.

While undersigned counsel anticipates the parties' briefs will sufficiently address the issues raised, the opportunity to present oral argument is welcomed if this court would find it helpful.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Mr. Kelly met L.J. at a gas station when he was 26 years old and she was 14 years old. She represented her age as 18. L.J.'s mother was present. (R. 26: 3). Mr. Kelly and L.J. started a dating relationship that lasted for nine years and resulted in three children. (R. 26: 3). Their first child was conceived when L.J. was 14 years old. Their third child was conceived when L.J. was an adult and was born in 2013. (R. 26: 3). L.J.'s mother was aware of and supported the relationship. (R. 26: 3; R. 95: 10). A child sexual assault charge was investigated while L.J. was pregnant with the couple's first child. However, no charge was issued. (R. 26: 2).

There were a number of domestic violence calls resulting from the relationship that did not result in convictions. (R. 95: 15-23). Then Mr. Kelly was charged in Case No. 13-CF-5072 with one count of Strangulation and Suffocation and one count of Battery. (R. 59: 18). The alleged victim was L.J. That case was dismissed when L.J. failed to appear. (R. 81: 1; App. 101). The identical Strangulation and Suffocation charge was reissued under Case No. 14-CF-1237 as Count 3. The Battery charge was reissued as a charge of Second Degree Recklessly Endangering Safety in Count 4. Count 1 of the new case charged Disorderly Conduct, and Count 2 charged Strangulation and Suffocation. In addition

to the charged counts, the criminal complaint alleged that Mr. Kelly had been referred for possible criminal charges involving domestic violence against L.J. "approximately 20 times since 2007." (R. 26: 11). The complaint recited a long list of specific uncharged domestic violence allegations involving Mr. Kelly and L.J. (R. 26: 11-12).

In Case No. 14-CF-1063, Mr. Kelly was charged with two counts of Second Degree Sexual Assault of a Child. The basis for the charges was sexual intercourse that occurred when L.J. was 14 years old. The offense was alleged to have occurred in 2006, eight years before the charges were issued. (R. 1).

Mr. Kelly was initially represented in the domestic violence cases by Attorney James Toran. (R. 81: 3, n. 3; App. 103). Subsequently, Attorney Scott Anderson took over representation of Mr. Kelly in both the domestic violence case and the sexual assault case. (R. R. 81: 3; App. 103). The State extended a written plea offer which provided that Mr. Kelly could elect to plead guilty to either: (1) one count of Strangulation and one Count of Second Degree Recklessly Endangering Safety in Case No. 14-CF-1237; or (2) one count of Second Degree Sexual Assault of a Child in Case No. 14-CF-1063. (R. 72).

The plea offer provided that in either case, the State would move to dismiss but read-in the other counts and would recommend 5-8 years initial confinement. (R. 72: 1).

Mr. Kelly entered a guilty plea to the charge of seconddegree child sexual assault. (R. 93). At the plea hearing, the circuit court inquired of Mr. Kelly as follows:

Do you understand that because of this conviction, the second degree sexual assault, which is a felony, you will be required, I have no discretion, you will be required to register as a sex offender for life? If you live to be 102, you will still be registering as a sex offender with the State of Wisconsin; do you understand?

(R. 93: 8). Mr. Kelly said that he understood.

After the plea hearing, but before sentencing, Mr. Kelly fired Mr. Anderson and retained Attorney James Toran to represent him. The Court sentenced Mr. Kelly to ten years of initial confinement followed by eight years of extended supervision. (R. 82).

Attorney Toran filed a Notice of Intent to Pursue Postconviction Relief on behalf of Mr. Kelly. (R. 35). Undersigned counsel was appointed to represent him. Undersigned counsel became aware that Mr. Kelly has been diagnosed with an intellectual disability that qualified him for social security disability benefits. Counsel enlisted the aid of Justin Heim, M.A., a Client Services Specialist employed by the office of the State Public Defender to obtain records regarding Mr. Kelly's disability and gather information about the interplay between that disability and the facts of this case. Mr. Heim prepared a report. (R. 61).

Mr. Kelly filed a motion for postconviction relief asserting that Attorney Anderson provided ineffective assistance when he advised Mr. Kelly to plead guilty to the child sexual assault charge, which carried a maximum prison sentence of 40 years where the total prison exposure would have been only 16 years for the alternative offer the State had extended to Mr. Kelly. Further, the child sexual assault conviction entailed mandatory lifetime sex offender registration. (R. 59). Mr. Kelly's motion sought an order allowing him to withdraw his plea and accept the State's

alternative offer under *Lafler v. Cooper*, 566 U.S. 156, 132 S. Ct. 1376 (2012). (R. 59: 5-8).

The postconviction motion further asserted that Attorney Toran provided ineffective assistance when he did not advise Mr. Kelly that he could move to withdraw his plea prior to sentencing for any fair and just reason. (R. 59: 9).

The circuit court commenced a *Machner*¹ hearing on April 7, 2017. The hearing was continued to May 22nd and concluded on June 5th. (R. 96, 97, 98). The following testimony was presented at the hearing:

Attorney Scott Anderson:

Attorney Anderson testified that while he was representing Mr. Kelly in the two cases, the State extended a written plea offer that gave Mr. Kelly two options: (1) plead guilty to two domestic violence offenses against L.J. — one count of suffocation and strangulation and one count of recklessly endangering safety; or (2) plead guilty to one count of seconddegree sexual assault of a child. (R. 96: 7: App. 118). Attorney Anderson testified that the offer provided that under either plea option, the remaining counts would be read in, and the State would recommend five to eight years of initial confinement. (R. 96: 7: App. 118).

Attorney Anderson acknowledged that he recommended that Mr. Kelly plead guilty to the child sexual assault rather than accept the alternative offer. (R. 96: 8: App. 119). When asked to explain his rationale for that advice, Attorney Anderson explained:

¹ State v. Machner, 92 Wis. 2d 797, 285 N.W>2d 905 (Ct. App. 1979).

The rationale was that these were consensual, consensual acts of sex coming out of a long-term relationship. He already had children with her. This was a consensual relationship that by, I believe there is a big gap of time between the charged offense and the time he's coming up for a plea or sentencing. And that, that was the less serious charge in his -- I believe he would have got, my thinking, significantly less time taking that case than the strangulation and the RES case.

(R. 96: 8-9: App. 119-120). At another point in the hearing, Attorney Anderson expanded on this, saying:

Because the sex act in my mind was a less serious offense than the domestic violence case. And just given the, given the age of it and the nature of the offense, and the relationship between Mr. Kelly and the young lady, the fact that the State was not going to prosecute that but for what was going on in the balance of the case. So it wasn't a major factor. The bottom line is I was certain that I could sell a much less sentence to the Court on that charge than I could on the other one.

(R. 96: 19-20: App. 130-31). The State asked Attorney Anderson whether this was his "strategy," and he answered in the affirmative. (R. 96: 20: App. 131). When asked if he recalled what he told Mr. Kelly about the difference in sentencing exposure between the two options, Attorney Anderson responded:

I don't have specific recollections of the, of our discussions. He would have been aware of the maximum penalties, the terms of initial confinement, you know, between the two cases. All I know is that I, I highly recommended taking the 1063 case, seconddegree sexual assault pleading to that over the other one for those reasons I stated.

(R. 96: 9: App. 120). Attorney. Anderson did not recall advising Mr. Kelly about sex offender registration as a result of his plea, but said that it was his practice to do so, and he never deviated from that practice. (R. 96: 11, 17: App. 122, 128). Attorney Anderson did not recall Mr. Kelly telling him after he entered the plea that he wanted to withdraw it. He indicated that if that happened, he would have prepared a motion for plea withdrawal. (R. 96: 8-9: App. 119-20).

Attorney Anderson testified that he believed that the State was pursuing the sexual assault charge only because the State had been unable to successfully prosecute Mr. Kelly for domestic violence. It was evident to Attorney Anderson that the State was most concerned about the domestic violence allegations and that "they could care less that he was having sex with this young lady. It had been ignored." (R. 96: 14: App. 125).

On cross-examination, the State attempted to elicit testimony that one factor bearing on Mr. Kelly's decision was his willingness to admit guilt regarding some offenses, but not others, but Attorney Anderson disavowed that this was a factor in Mr. Kelly's decision. (R. 96: 18: App. 129). Attorney Anderson acknowledged that the strength of the evidence against a defendant is "a factor" in plea negotiations, saying:

Whether we can win at trial, that's the number one concern. And when it's time to fold up then strength of the case comes into play

(R. 96: 19: App. 130). Attorney Anderson said that this could also be a factor in a plea decision. (R. 96: 19: App. 130). He testified that potential exposure is a factor bearing on a plea decision, but is not the sole factor. (R. 96: 19: App. 130).

Attorney Anderson testified that there were factors mitigating the seriousness of the sexual assault charge, including that L.J. lied about her age when Mr. Kelly met her, her mother was not cooperative in prosecuting Mr. Kelly, and years had passed since the offense occurred. (R. 96: 22: App. 133). Attorney Anderson agreed with the State that Mr. Kelly's plea to sexual assault did not require him to admit to any violence against L.J.. Attorney Anderson noted that the evidence against Mr. Kelly regarding the sexual assault (DNA testing of his and L.J.'s child) was strong. (R. 96: 8-9: App. 119-120). He testified that the strength of the evidence regarding the domestic violence allegations depended upon L.J.'s willingness to appear in court. (R. 96: 24: App. 135). Attorney Anderson believed that the case against Mr. Kelly on the sexual assault charge was stronger than the case against him on the domestic violence charges. Attorney Anderson endorsed the State's assertion that that "part of the calculation that can go into a defendant's decision whether to plead [is] the strength of the evidence on one charge versus the other." (R. 97: 9: App. 146).

Attorney Anderson also endorsed the State's assertion that if Mr. Kelly pled guilty to the domestic violence counts, which would have necessitated admitting violent conduct toward L.J., that would have "given more credence by his admission to the history of domestic violence that the State would be alleging at sentencing." (R. 97: 9: App. 146).

Attorney Anderson agreed that he believed that "the strategy to plead to the sexual assault was the best way to minimize the allegations of violence in this case." . (R. 97: 11-12: App. 148-49). He was most concerned about the allegations of violence and believed that the plea to the child sexual assault would "get him the least amount of time." (R. 97: 13: App. 150). Attorney Anderson was aware that the

judge would be permitted to consider the read-in charges for purposes of sentencing. (R. 97: 12; App. 149).

He acknowledged believing that the State was always much more interested in seeing Mr. Kelly punished for the domestic violence incidents than the sexual assault. (R. 97: 17: App. 154).

Attorney James Toran:

Attorney Toran took over representation of Mr. Kelly when Mr. Kelly called him and told him that he had fired Scott. Anderson and that he had entered a plea to a sexual assault offense and was not happy with that. Regarding his plea decision, Attorney Toran testified:

He wasn't happy because, apparently, I -- I can't put my finger on it but some of the things he said that were told to him didn't make sense to me. I can't, you know, say for example what it was with any specificity -- specificity, but I told him it didn't make a whole lot of sense, but I don't know what exactly at this point in time. It's been about three, four years ago, at least.

(R. 98: 51-52: App. 160-61). When asked if he was aware of the two plea options that had been presented to Mr. Kelly, Attorney Toran testified:

Not really. At that point, when I got the case, it was already a done deal. He had already entered his plea and I was more concerned about sentencing and getting the best outcome I could for him. In terms of the negotiations and what the offers were at that point, I wasn't privy to that.

(R. 98: 52: App. 161). When asked whether he discussed with Mr. Kelly the option of withdrawing his plea, Attorney Toran said:

He wasn't happy, but in terms of withdrawing the plea, we didn't agree to that because if he had done so, I would have ordered a sentencing (sic) ranscript and filed a motion to withdraw the plea. I didn't do that, so, and I've done that on numerous occasions, so I know the procedure to withdraw the plea, and we didn't pursue that avenue, but I know he wasn't happy with his plea decision or -- or his counsel so-to-speak.

(R. 98: 52-53: App. 161-62). When asked if he recalled what advice he gave to Mr. Kelly, he said "we didn't decide to withdraw the plea, I mean, I said I would represent him at the sentencing and then we opted to proceed." (R. 98: 54: App. 163).

When asked how the decision was made to proceed to sentencing, Attorney Toran said:

Yeah. I reviewed it, and you know, he said he wasn't happy with his attorney in terms of the advice and which case he pled to. Like I say, we didn't deal with that. I just dealt with the fact that he had pled guilty to the charge and represented him at sentencing, we didn't really go into detail about withdrawing the plea at all.

(R. 98: 53: App. 63).

Attorney Toran agreed that he was concerned about the number of violent acts the State would put before the court at sentencing. (R. 98: 56: App. 165). He did not endorse the State's view that if Mr. Kelly had admitted to one violent act, he would have been giving credence to the other allegations of violence. (R. 98: 56-57: App. 165-66). Attorney Toran asserted that if Mr. Kelly had told him about something that would be a legal basis for a plea withdrawal motion and if Mr. Kelly had wanted that, he would have filed it. (R. 98: 58-59: App. 167-68).

The State attempted to elicit from Attorney Toran that he was unaware of any basis for a plea withdrawal motion. Attorney Toran's response was as follows:

Well, the long and short of it is, counsel, I was I was a bit concerned when he opted to go with another attorney after having represented him before, and I had met with him as well as a few other attorneys, I'm sure, and then he based his decision on Scott Anderson, and then after that, whatever transpired between them in conversations, you know, I was not privy to how they got to that cross in the road where he took that particular avenue where he pled to what he pled to. is it was a major breakdown between the time in which he accepted that plea for whatever reason that they -- that they had or whatever reason that they chose to do what they did, and basically, I was asked to come in to complete the sentencing, always indicated he wanted to plead whatever the sentence was though.

(R. 98: 60: App. 169).

Attorney Toran testified that the State's argument at sentencing focused on the domestic violence allegations and not the sexual assault. The State presented a slideshow that focused entirely on the domestic violence. Attorney Toran testified that it would have been impossible to position Mr. Kelly as a non-violent person at sentencing in this case. (R. 98: 65-66: App. 174-75).

Defendant Terrell Kelly:

Mr. Kelly testified that Attorney Anderson told him that he would get a lighter sentence if he pled guilty to the child sexual assault charge. (R. 98: 5). He testified that Attorney Anderson never told him that the maximum penalties he could get for the domestic violence offenses would be much less than the potential penalties for the sexual

assault or that if he pled guilty to the domestic violence offenses, the longest initial confinement he could get would be eight years. (R. 98: 6-7). Mr. Kelly asserted that Attorney Anderson had not discussed sex offender registration with him prior to his plea and that he did not know about it when he pled guilty. (R. 98: 6). He found out about this consequence later in a conversation with his aunt. Mr. Kelly testified that when the judge told him about sex offender registration during the plea hearing, he thought the judge was just warning him that the offense would be on his record for the rest of his life. (R. 98: 7).

Mr. Kelly testified that if he had known about the much higher penalty exposure for the child sexual assault charge and if he had known about sex offender registration, he would not have pled guilty to the sexual assault charge, but would have instead pled guilty to the domestic violence charges even though it meant admitting to them. (R. 98).

Mr. Kelly testified that after he fired Scott Anderson and hired Attorney Toran, he told Attorney Toran that he wanted to withdraw his plea. (R. 98: 10). Mr. Kelly testified that Attorney Toran told him that the plea deal was "messed up" and that Attorney Anderson "threw [him] under the bus." However, he testified that Attorney Toran told him it was too late to withdraw his plea.

On cross-examination, Mr. Kelly acknowledged that he received and reviewed the criminal complaints. (R. 98: 5). He acknowledged that he told the presentence writer that he felt the complaints had unfairly portrayed him as a violent person. (R. 98: 12). Mr. Kelly acknowledged his prior contacts with the criminal justice system, including prior cases in which he entered guilty pleas. (R. 98: 18-19:). There

was lengthy questioning about Mr. Kelly's contacts with L.J. during the pendency of the cases. (R. 98: 25-28).

Mr. Kelly acknowledged that at the plea hearing, the court advised him about the maximum penalty for the sexual assault charge to which he pled. (R. 98: 37).

Mr. Kelly denied that he chose to plead guilty to the sexual assault charge so that he wouldn't have to admit that he was a violent person. (R. 98: 42). He testified that he pled to the child sexual assault because his lawyer told him he would get a lighter sentence if he did. (R. 98: 42-43). He said he would not have pled guilty to child sexual assault if his lawyer had not advised him that he would get a lighter sentence by doing so. (R. 98: 44-45).

The circuit court's decision:

The circuit court directed the parties to file proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law. Counsel for Mr. Kelly did so. (R. 80). The State filed an eleven-page document entitled "Decision and Order Denying Motion for Postconviction Relief." (R.79). The Court announced its decision from the bench as follows:

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