### **RECEIVED**

### STATE OF WISCONSIN **04-03-2018**

## COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN DISTRICT I

Case No. 2017AP1584-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

TERRELL ANTWAIN KELLY,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION, THE HONORABLE DANIEL L. KONKOL, PRESIDING, AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, THE HONORABLE M. JOSEPH DONALD, PRESIDING, BOTH ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT

### RESPONSE BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

SARAH L. BURGUNDY Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1071646

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

### **ARGUMENT**

### I. Neither of Kelly's attorneys was ineffective.

Kelly is not entitled to plea withdrawal. Attorney Anderson was not ineffective for advising Kelly to plead guilty to second-degree sexual assault because that advice was based on a reasonable strategic decision under the circumstances. Attorney Toran was not ineffective for not filing a pre-sentence plea withdrawal motion that the circuit court found Kelly never asked for and that otherwise had no legal basis.

## A. A defendant alleging ineffective assistance of counsel must demonstrate both deficient performance and prejudice.

To withdraw a plea after sentencing, a defendant must show a manifest injustice justifying such relief. *State v. Taylor*, 2013 WI 34, ¶ 24, 347 Wis. 2d 30, 829 N.W.2d 482 (citation omitted). Ineffective assistance of counsel can satisfy the manifest injustice test. *State v. Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d 303, 311, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996).

Hence, to succeed on his ineffective assistance claim, Kelly must demonstrate: (1) deficient performance, and (2) prejudice. *See Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). If the court concludes that the defendant has not

proven one prong of this test, it need not address the other. *Id.* at 697.

To prove deficient performance, the defendant must show specific acts or omissions of counsel that were "outside the wide range of professionally competent assistance." *Id.* at 690. This Court begins with a strong presumption that counsel performed competently. *Id.* Counsel's decisions based on a reasonably sound strategy, without the benefit of hindsight, are "virtually unchallengeable," and do not constitute ineffective assistance. *Id.* at 690–91.

And generally, to prove prejudice, the defendant must prove that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Id.* at 694.

- B. Attorney Anderson was not ineffective when he recommended that Kelly plead to the sex assault count.
  - 1. Attorney Anderson's advice was reasonable and not deficient.

As noted above, the State offered Kelly two pleading options: (1) in the domestic violence case, guilty pleas to strangulation and suffocation and reckless endangerment, or (2) in the sex assault cause, a guilty plea to second-degree sexual assault. In either case, the State agreed to recommend five to eight years' initial confinement.

Each option had pros and cons for Kelly. The first option—pleading guilty in the domestic violence case to two counts—meant that Kelly would be exposed to 16 years of incarceration, including up to eight years of initial confinement and eight years of extended supervision. However, as Anderson articulated (R. 97:9), and the circuit court found (R. 81:4), Kelly's admitting guilt to those violent

acts would supply credence to the numerous other reports of his violence and the read-in charges. Given that, Attorney Anderson concluded that he would unlikely be able to persuade the court to sentence Kelly below the State's recommendation if Kelly entered guilty plea to the domestic violence counts.

The second option allowed Kelly to plead guilty to second-degree child sexual assault, which by its facts, was not a violent crime. While it exposed Kelly to more time than the first option and required compliance with the sex offender registry, it featured mitigating facts that counsel could advance to persuade the court to sentence him to less time: Kelly claimed that Laura lied about her age and he did not learn the truth until she was pregnant. Kelly supported his child (and later, children). Further, Kelly became involved with Laura with her mother's blessing, and the relationship developed into a consensual one with three children. Finally, the offense was an eight-year-old crime that the State appeared to have resurrected due to its inability to prosecute the domestic violence crimes.<sup>6</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> There was a third option that Kelly disregards: Kelly could have rejected both alternatives and gone to trial. Although Kelly asserted postconviction—and essentially asserts now—that he does not want relief that means he would go to trial (R. 102:4– 5), consideration of the State's ability to prove these crimes factors into the reasonableness of Anderson's advice regarding the pleas. As Anderson articulated and the court found, the State's evidence was strong in the sex assault case, including DNA evidence that Kelly was the father of Laura's first child. The strength of that case suggests that Kelly had an interest in pleading to that charge and shows that he was taking that crime. In contrast, responsibility for demonstrably uncooperative with the State in the domestic violence case, which suggests Kelly may not have been willing to plead guilty to charges that the State appeared unlikely to ever be able to try.

As the circuit court found, Anderson recommended that Kelly plead guilty to the sexual assault case as part of a strategy to try to obtain a lessor period of initial confinement than the five-to-eight years recommended by the State. (R. 81:7–8.) That strategy was reasonable: the sexual assault was a non-violent offense involving facts that Anderson could argue merited a sentence below the State's recommendation. Had Kelly pleaded guilty to the domestic violence case, he "would have give[n] more credence to the State's allegations of a history of domestic violence against" Laura, which likely would have resulted in a sentence in line with the high end of the State's recommendation. (R. 81:4.)

Moreover, Kelly's complaint was not that he was exposed to 40 years, but that he was sentenced to 18. (R. 81:6; 98:43.) That the court ultimately sentenced Kelly to two years more than the maximum Kelly would have faced on the domestic violence counts simply means that Anderson's and Kelly's calculated risk did not pay off. It did not render Anderson's advice and strategy unreasonable. To conclude otherwise requires hindsight and second-guessing, which *Strickland* does not allow. *See Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689 (requiring courts to make "every effort . . . to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight" and not second-guess counsel's strategy simply because it did not succeed).

And to the extent that Kelly claims that Anderson did not explain his options or the consequences of his plea, the circuit court properly found that Anderson fully advised Kelly on the two alternatives. The court found Anderson's testimony credible generally and found that Anderson adequately "explain[ed] to Mr. Kelly the terms of the offer letter, the two plea options by the State, his maximum exposure on both cases, sex offender registration, and the reasons for pleading guilty to the sexual assault case instead of the domestic violence case." (R. 81:7.)

Those findings have support in the record, given Anderson's testimony that while he did not remember the specifics of his conversations with Kelly, Kelly "would have been aware of the maximum penalties, the terms of initial confinement . . . between the two cases." (R. 96:9.) Moreover, assuming Anderson had a duty to explain the collateral consequence of the sex offender registry requirement to Kelly, Anderson fulfilled that duty. He testified that in every case where a client would be subject to sex offender registration, he would explain the information on the plea form regarding that lifetime registration and the bar on his working with minors. (R. 96:11.)

Kelly does not challenge the court's factual findings. (Kelly's Br. 19–20.) Rather, he argues that the court erred in concluding that Attorney Anderson's strategy reasonable. (Kelly's Br. 20–21.) To Kelly, Anderson's advice to plead to the sexual assault charge was patently unreasonable in two ways. First, there was no upside to pleading to sexual assault: it featured greater exposure and registering as a sex offender, and the sentencing court was going to consider Kelly's violence against Laura regardless whether he admitted to the domestic violence charges. (Kelly's Br. 22–23.) Second, according to Kelly, Anderson unreasonably guaranteed Kelly "significantly less time" if he pleaded to the child sexual assault charge. (Kelly's Br. 23.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Although it is not necessary for this Court to reach this question, Anderson did not have a duty to inform Kelly of collateral consequences such as the sex offender registry requirement. See State v. Bollig, 2000 WI 6, ¶¶ 16–17, 232 Wis. 2d 561, 605 N.W.2d 199. Counsel is not constitutionally deficient for failing to inform a defendant of such consequences. See State v. LeMere, 2016 WI 41, ¶ 69, 368 Wis. 2d 624, 879 N.W.2d 580 (failure to advise of possibility of Chapter 980 commitment cannot form basis of ineffective assistance claim).

As explained above, however, Anderson's advice was not unreasonable. Kelly's pleading to the second-degree sexual assault charge focused the sentencing court on that charge, which did not involve violence. Moreover, the charge involved an eight-year-old crime, a situation that began with the consent of Laura's mother and evolved into a consensual relationship in which Kelly supported his and Laura's children. Attorney Anderson never testified that he believed the court would ignore Kelly's violence; his point was that Kelly would not be admitting to the charged violence, which—based on the complaint—was brutal: he strangled Laura with a belt until she urinated herself, after which she escaped and begged a neighbor for help, claiming that Kelly was going to kill her. (R. 1:3.) Kelly's admitting to those acts supported the inference that he also committed the many other reported acts and made it more likely that the court would sentence Kelly to the maximum (or close) of 16 years that he would have faced had he pleaded in the domestic violence case.

In contrast, his plea to a sexual assault under the circumstances created the possibility that the court would start with a relatively low sentence and, even weighing the read ins, impose a sentence lower than the State's recommendation. Attorney Anderson had reason to believe that could happen. He had 32 years' experience, much of it handling criminal defense and, in his experience, the sexual assault charge and its attendant circumstances made it the less serious crime to which Kelly could admit guilt. That belief was not patently unreasonable; indeed, at sentencing Attorney Toran referenced two cases he handled involving older man-teen girl statutory rape that resulted in probation with conditional jail time. (R. 95:28–29.)

Further, Anderson never promised Kelly a shorter sentence than the State's recommendation. What Anderson said was that in recommending the plea to the sex assault, he believed that Kelly "would have got . . . significantly less time taking [a plea in] that case than the strangulation and [recklessly endangering safety] case" and that he was "certain that [he] could sell a much less sentence to the Court on that charge than [he] could on the other one." (R. 96:9, 20.)8 On that second remark, Attorney Anderson agreed that what he meant by "sell," was his "strategy of what is the best posture to put the client in before the sentencing court." (R. 96:20.)

Taken together, these statements mean simply that Anderson would not have had room to argue for less time than the high end of what the State was recommending if Kelly had pleaded in the domestic violence case. In contrast, if Kelly pleaded in the sex assault case, counsel had room to advocate for less confinement time. Indeed, Anderson said that he generally does not tell a client, at least when going over the plea, "what I believe the judge may be looking at." (R. 96:17.) Further, Anderson said, "No," when asked whether he recalled "having any concerns about [Kelly's] ability to . . . understand the case and his risks and his exposure and what he was doing?" (R. 97:16.) And that Kelly offered contradictory testimony to those points changes nothing (R. 98:6, 36, 44), since the court found his testimony incredible where it conflicted with Anderson's and Toran's (R. 81:7), and found that Kelly understood the terms of the offer and each alternative's maximum penalties (R. 81:8).

In sum, Attorney Anderson was not deficient. His advice to Kelly to plead to the sex assault charges was a reasonable strategic decision. Accordingly, this Court need not consider prejudice.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Kelly's citations to Anderson's testimony appear to be off by one page. (Kelly's Br. 23.) The State assumes that Kelly is referring to the lines quoted above.

### 2. Kelly cannot establish prejudice.

To prove prejudice, "[i]n the context of pleas a defendant must show the outcome of the plea process would have been different with competent advice." *Lafler*, 566 U.S. at 163. Specifically, the defendant must show that but for counsel's advice, he would have accepted the alternative plea offer, the court would have accepted it, and the conviction or sentence or both under the offer's terms would have been less severe. *See id.* at 164.9

While the State concedes that Kelly's sentence to the two domestic violence counts would have been less severe, by at least two years, than the 18-year sentence he received, Kelly failed his burden of demonstrating a reasonable probability (1) that he would have taken the State's alternate plea offer and pleaded guilty to the domestic violence counts, and (2) that the circuit court would have accepted his plea to the domestic violence counts.

First, Kelly failed to demonstrate that he would have pleaded to the domestic violence counts but for Attorney Anderson's advice. In his postconviction motion, Kelly asserted that he could meet this burden by testifying "that if his lawyer had informed him of the difference in penalty between the two plea options the State gave him, and if counsel had informed him that pleading to the sexual assault charge would entail mandatory sex offender registration, he would have chosen the more favorable plea

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> In *Lafler*, the Supreme Court assessed prejudice where the defendant rejected a plea offer and went to trial; whereas, here, Kelly rejected a plea offer by taking an alternative offer. *Lafler*, 566 U.S. at 163. Still, given that Kelly's primary claim of prejudice was that he lost the opportunity to accept the alternative plea offer, the State assumes that *Lafler*'s articulation of the defendant's requirements for proving prejudice applies.

option." (R. 59:8.) Kelly indeed testified to that effect, claiming that Anderson never told him that the maximum penalties for the domestic violence charges would be much less than the maximum for the sexual assault, that he never told him about the sex offender registry, and that if Anderson had told him those things, he would have pleaded to the two domestic violence counts. (R. 98:6–9.) Kelly said, "Yes," when asked whether he would have understood that pleading guilty in the domestic violence case meant that he was admitting committing those crimes. (R. 98:9.)

But the circuit court found Kelly's testimony incredible where it conflicted with his attorneys', and specifically found that Attorney Anderson adequately explained the maximum exposure on both cases and the sex offender registry. (R. 81:7.) It found incredible Kelly's statements that he nevertheless did not understand the maximums and the sex offender registry despite evidence that the maximums were included in the criminal complaints (which Kelly claimed he read), that he was informed of the maximums at his initial appearance (R. 87:3–4), 10 and that the maximum penalty on the sex assault (as well as the sex offender registry requirement) was in his plea questionnaire and explained by the court at the plea hearing (R. 21:1; 93:9). Kelly does not challenge the legitimacy of those findings, which undercut his explanation why he now claims that he would have pleaded guilty to the domestic violence charges.

Moreover, there was significant evidence that Kelly was not willing to admit guilt to the domestic violence

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Kelly's initial appearance transcript in the domestic violence case is not in this record. But given the court's finding that informing a defendant of the maximum penalties is the "primary function and routine practice of the intake court" (R. 81:7), Kelly failed to show that the court abandoned its duty in this respect.

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